Non-native species have higher consumption rates than their native counterparts

Larissa Faria^{1,*}, Ross N. Cuthbert^{2†}, James W. E. Dickey^{3,4,5,6†}, Jonathan M. Jeschke^{3,4,5}, Anthony Ricciardi⁷, Jaimie T. A. Dick² and Jean R. S. Vitule¹

¹Laboratório de Ecologia e Conservação, Departamento de Engenharia Ambiental, Universidade Federal do Paraná,

Av. Cel. Francisco H. dos Santos 100, Curitiba 81531-980, Brazil

²Institute for Global Food Security, School of Biological Sciences, Queen's University Belfast, 19 Chlorine Gardens, Belfast, BT9 5DL, UK

⁴Institute of Biology, Freie Universität Berlin, Königin-Luise-Straβe 1-3, Berlin 14195, Germany

⁵Berlin-Brandenburg Institute of Advanced Biodiversity Research, Königin-Luise-Straße 2-4, Berlin 14195, Germany

⁶GEOMAR Helmholtz-Zentrum für Ozeanforschung Kiel, Wischhofstraße 1-3, Kiel 24148, Germany

⁷Department of Biology, McGill University, 1205 Docteur Penfield, Montréal, Quebec H3A 1B1, Canada

ABSTRACT

Non-native species can be major drivers of ecosystem alteration, especially through changes in trophic interactions. Successful non-native species have been predicted to have greater resource use efficiency relative to trophically analogous native species (the Resource Consumption Hypothesis), but rigorous evidence remains equivocal. Here, we tested this proposition quantitatively in a global meta-analysis of comparative functional response studies. We calculated the log response ratio of paired non-native and native species functional responses, using attack rate and maximum consumption rate parameters as response variables. Explanatory variables were consumer taxonomic group and functional feeding group, habitat, native assemblage latitude, and non-native species taxonomic distinctiveness. Maximum consumption rates for non-native species were 70% higher, on average, than those of their native counterparts; attack rates also tended to be higher, but not significantly so. The magnitude of maximum consumption rate effect sizes varied with consumer taxonomic group and functional feeding group, being highest in favour of non-natives for molluscs and herbivores. Consumption rate differences between non-native and native species tended to be greater for freshwater taxa, perhaps reflecting sensitivity of insular freshwater food webs to novel consumers; this pattern needs to be explored further as additional data are obtained from terrestrial and marine ecosystems. In general, our results support the Resource Consumption Hypothesis, which can partly explain how successful non-native species can reduce native resource populations and restructure food webs.

Key words: ecological impact, effect size, feeding response, impact prediction, invasion hypothesis, invasion science, invasive alien species, meta-analysis, predation rate, risk assessment.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1164
II.	Functional response in ecology	1165
III.	Methods	1166
	(1) Selection of studies and observations	1166
	(2) Data extraction	1166
	(3) Meta-analysis	1167
	(4) Sensitivity analysis and publication bias	1168

Cambridge Philosophical Society

Check for updates

³Leibniz Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries, Müggelseedamm 310, 1, Berlin 2587, Germany

^{*} Author for correspondence (Tel: +55 41 992522209; E-mail: larissa.faria@fulbrightmail.org).

[†]Authors contributed equally to this work.

IV.	Results	1168
V.	Discussion	1170
	(1) Resource consumption hypothesis	1170
	(2) Predictions	1174
	(3) Study limitations, future directions and concluding remarks	1175
VI.	Conclusions	1176
VII.	Acknowledgements	1176
VIII.	Author contributions	1177
IX.	Data availability statement	1177
Х.	References	1177
XI.	Supporting information	1180

I. INTRODUCTION

Rates of introduction of non-native species into new environments are on the order of hundreds of species per year in many regions, with no sign of deceleration (Seebens et al., 2021; IPBES, 2023; Briski et al., 2024). Invasive nonnative species (sensu Soto et al., 2024) are among the main drivers of ecosystem alteration worldwide (Bellard, Cassey & Blackburn, 2016; Blackburn, Bellard & Ricciardi, 2019; Jaureguiberry et al., 2022), causing negative impacts through various mechanisms - most notably through direct consumption via predation and herbivory (Lockwood, Hoopes & Marchetti, 2007). Overexploitation of resources by invasive non-native species and associated disruption of ecological networks is expected to become an increasingly prevalent extinction driver worldwide over the coming century (Strona & Bradshaw, 2022). Several examples of the potential for non-native species to extirpate natives are notorious, such as the introduction of Nile perch (Lates niloticus) to Lake Victoria that drove many dozens of endemic cichlids to extinction and caused the decline of other carnivore species (Kruuk & Goudswaard, 1990; Goudswaard, Witte & Katunzi, 2002). Another is the case of the peacock bass (Cichla monoculus) in South America, which reduced or extirpated native prey due to predation, and native piscivores due to competition (Pelicice & Agostinho, 2009; Pelicice, Latini & Agostinho, 2015; Franco, García-Berthou & Santos, 2021).

Many impactful non-native species are highly efficient in consuming available resources (Funk & Vitousek, 2007; Morrison & Hay, 2011). Potential underlying reasons for this pattern include release from parasites and predators (Enemy Release Hypothesis *sensu* Keane & Crawley, 2002) or a lack of evolutionary history of the native resource with the novel consumer [Prey Naïveté Hypothesis and/or non-native Novel Weapons Hypothesis (Ricciardi *et al.*, 2013; Buckley & Catford, 2016)]. If non-native species have a propensity to exploit resources at greater rates, it could lead to ramifying effects on resource populations and food webs – and offer a species trait to predict ecological impacts (Dick *et al.*, 2013).

It has been claimed that per-capita rates of consumption, such as those quantified by functional responses (FRs; see Section II and Fig. 1), are useful for quantifying and predicting non-native species impacts in the field (Dick *et al.*, 2014; Faria et al., 2023a). If efficient resource consumption is a general trait among invasive non-native species, it is expected that parameters of their FRs would be higher when compared to those of native analogues (Dick et al., 2017a). By measuring consumption across a realistic gradient of resource densities, FR assessments allow the inference of densitydependent effects. At low resource densities, if non-native species are more efficient at consuming resources when the resources are scarce, then such consumers are more likely to extirpate resource populations. If resources are abundant and the non-native species displays higher consumption rates, this could in the long term drive increased non-native population abundance, fitness, and spread. Thus, the comparative functional response (CFR) approach has been increasingly used in invasion science to predict and quantify non-native species ecological impacts (Faria et al., 2023a). Per-capita effects quantified through laboratory experiments can be a proxy for field impacts and could thus support rapid



Resource density

Fig. 1. General functional response types (linear I – orange; hyperbolic II – green; and sigmoidal III – violet). The attack rate parameter (*a*) determines the initial slope of the curve in Type I and II functional responses, whereas the inverse of handling time $(1/\hbar, \text{ dashed line})$ coincides with the asymptote in Type II and III functional responses, determining the maximum consumption rate.

assessment and prioritisation of high-impact species for management (Ricciardi *et al.*, 2021; Faria *et al.*, 2023a). Although biotic and abiotic environmental factors have been shown substantially to mediate outcomes of FR studies (Faria *et al.*, 2023a), these contexts can be explicitly tested rather than viewed as nuisance factors (Dick *et al.*, 2014).

Despite the rapid accumulation of evidence across study systems using the CFR approach (Faria *et al.*, 2023a), the hypothesis that successful non-native species have higher FR parameters than trophically analogous native species has not yet been quantitatively tested. A previous study, analysing data from fish, found that non-native status did not strongly influence FR parameters (Buba, DeLong & Belmaker, 2022); however, data used in that study were not matched with native comparators as was recommended by Dick *et al.* (2014).

Here, we perform the first global meta-analysis of published CFR studies to address the Resource Consumption Hypothesis (Ricciardi et al., 2013; Dick et al., 2014; Faria et al., 2023a). We tested the following specific predictions: (i) differences in consumption rates are greater for freshwater than marine and terrestrial taxa, reflecting prey naïveté stemming from differences in insularity of their respective biota (Cox & Lima, 2006); (ii) differences in consumption rates will be lower in more diverse assemblages (i.e. from tropical and sub-tropical latitudes) than in less diverse assemblages (temperate latitudes) because greater predator richness reduces the evolutionary mismatch created by a novel consumer (Schemske et al., 2009); and (iii) non-native species that represent novel (unshared) genera in the region containing the native analogues to which they are compared will have higher impact than non-native species that belong to genera shared with the native biota (the Taxonomic Distinctiveness Hypothesis; Ricciardi & Atkinson, 2004).

II. FUNCTIONAL RESPONSE IN ECOLOGY

The consumption rate of a species (such as a predator) as a function of the availability of a resource (prey) is known as the functional response (FR) (Solomon, 1949; Holling, 1959b). Generally, the FR describes how much an individual can consume across a gradient of resource densities in a specified amount of time. This relationship can be broadly described by at least three different FR types (Fig. 1). If there is a linear increase in the consumption rate as the availability of resources increases up to an abrupt limit, this relationship is characterised by a Type I FR (Holling, 1959b). However, many consumers will be limited by the time they spend pursuing, subduing and consuming one resource item, decelerating the rate of consumption as resources become more abundant. This results in a hyperbolic relationship between resource availability and consumption rate that characterises a Type II FR (Holling, 1959b). The third possibility is that, at low densities, resources are less likely to be found by the consumer or that the consumer will prefer an alternative more

abundant resource (driven by frequency-dependent predation such as prey switching). In these cases, a Type III FR can manifest, characterised by a sigmoidal curve (Holling, 1959b). Less common forms include a dome-shaped Type IV curve, with a reduction in consumption rate at very high resource densities (DeLong, 2021). This can happen when there are swarming effects, such as consumer confusion or accumulation of toxic substances produced by dangerous prev (Jeschke, Kopp & Tollrian, 2004).

FRs are typically derived through laboratory experiments (although field data can also be used, e.g. Smout *et al.*, 2014) consisting of a gradient of resources offered to a consumer for a prespecified experimental duration, and then quantifying how much has been consumed after the available time (DeLong, 2021). Consumption data are then modelled using the relevant equation according to the FR type (i.e. typically Type I, II, or III, alongside flexible models across types). The most important parameters in FR models are (cf. Jeschke, Kopp & Tollrian, 2002) the attack rate and the handling time (Holling, 1959a). Attack rate *a* is also known as the attack constant, capture rate, maximum clearance rate, instantaneous rate of discovery, and related terms, and describes the space or volume containing resources that is effectively cleared by the consumer per unit of time (Holling, 1959a; DeLong, 2021). This parameter describes the initial slope of the FR curve (Fig. 1), being directly related to consumption of resources when they are in low abundance (DeLong, 2021). The greater the attack rate, the greater will be the impact of a consumer on resources that are at low densities. Handling time (h) is the time needed for capturing, consuming, and digesting one resource item, and limits the amount of resource consumed when resources are highly abundant (Fig. 1; Holling, 1959a; DeLong, 2021). The shorter the handling time, the greater the number of resource items consumed. Therefore, the inverse of handling time (1/h) determines the highest consumption rate of a consumer when resources are not limiting, a parameter called maximum consumption rate (MCR; sometimes maximum predation rate, maximum feeding rate, and related terms) that corresponds to the asymptote of the Type II and Type III FR curves (DeLong, 2021). Furthermore, attack rate and handling time can be assimilated into the Functional Response Ratio (FRR), through deriving a/h (Cuthbert et al., 2019), which captures both parameters for a holistic metric of the FR.

Determining the type and magnitude of FR is relevant, as it directly influences population dynamics (DeLong, 2021; Kalinkat *et al.*, 2023). A Type II FR may be destabilising, as resources are consumed at high rates even when they are at low abundances, possibly leading to extinction (Hassell, 1978). On the other hand, a Type III FR is more stabilising, as consumption rates are low when resources are scarce, giving the resource population refugia to increase its abundance in the long term (Holling, 1959b; Murdoch & Oaten, 1975). It is important to note, however, that the FR is not a fixed trait of a species or population; it can change from Type II to Type III when habitat complexity increases, for example (DeLong, 2021; Kalinkat *et al.*, 2023). Moreover, FR parameters may change with several biotic and abiotic variables such as temperature, body size ratio, and parasite infection, and they vary among individual consumers within a given species and population (DeLong, 2021).

III. METHODS

(1) Selection of studies and observations

We systematically searched for a subset of CFR studies that compared the FRs of non-native and analogous native species consuming the same resource. This subset was taken from a previously published systematic review of FRs in invasion science (Faria *et al.*, 2023a), with the literature search updated in May 2023 following the same methodology as Faria *et al.* (2023a). We conducted our review according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses for Ecology and Evolutionary Biology (PRISMA-EcoEvo) guidelines (see online Supporting Information, Appendix S1; O'Dea *et al.*, 2021).

We assessed if non-native species have higher *per-capita* effects on resources than their native counterparts, using proxies of feeding efficiency and voracity from FR models. Therefore, we sought studies that provided the FR parameters attack rate (a), handling time (h), and/or MCR comparably between non-native and native species (i.e. modelled using the same equation). Studies that failed to provide a detailed description of experiments (e.g. number of replicates for each resource density) were excluded. We only included studies where the response variable was consumption *via* feeding; thus omitting, for example, studies using parasitoids (response recorded as attacks or oviposition) from our analyses, which are generally rare in CFR studies (Faria *et al.*, 2023a).

We considered each pair of non-native and native species consuming the same resource within studies as a separate observation. As previously reviewed by Faria et al. (2023a), many studies perform more than one FR experiment for the same pair of consumers under different biotic and abiotic treatments. In these cases, we chose to retain data from the most context-realistic treatment (when this was explicit from the text) or from the treatment that was comparable between studies. For example, Dickey et al. (2021b) tested two salinities (10 and 16 ppt) and analysed data from consumption and consumption plus wounded prey. In this case, we decided to retain only observations from the ambient salinity (16 ppt) and excluded those that correspond to a potential future scenario of sea freshening (10 ppt, less representative currently). Likewise, we retained data from observations of consumption-only analysis, as these are comparable among studies. If the treatments within studies were deemed equally realistic (e.g. different temperatures that correspond to current natural seasonal ranges), we averaged all parameter estimates for each consumer into a single composite sample

(when provided, standard errors were propagated from individual estimates), to avoid pseudo-replication. Nonetheless, our final data set still contained more than one observation per study, particularly capturing unique non-native versus native pairs (e.g. the same pair of consumers feeding on a different resource, or different non-native species compared to the same native analogue). This nonindependence within studies is accounted for statistically (see Section III.3). The screening of 209 observations was performed by one author (L.F.) and subsequently checked by two other authors (R.N.C. and J.W.E.D.) to ensure agreement. Observations that these authors assessed as equally realistic had their parameter estimates averaged into a single composite sample. Likewise, observations considered less realistic by these authors were excluded, and the remaining observations were kept for further analysis.

(2) Data extraction

When available, we extracted *a*, *h*, and MCR parameters estimated from FR models and their corresponding standard errors (S.E.) for each consumer from text or tables within research articles. For parameter data presented as figures, we used WebPlot Digitizer (https://automeris.io/WebPlotDigitizer) to extract mean values and S.E. Input data used to model FR parameters (i.e. the sum of replicates of all initial densities used in the experiment) were recorded as the sample size, except when S.E. from estimates were obtained through bootstrapping (in these cases, we considered the number of bootstraps as the sample size). Sample size and S.E. (when available) were used to calculate standard deviations (S.D.) for each consumer.

We used the *h* parameter estimate to calculate the MCR for each consumer species as 1/h, to standardise it as units of resource consumed per consumer, per experiment. The corresponding MCR S.E. was propagated from the S.E. of *h*. When *h* was not provided, we extracted the MCR as calculated by the study. All data were extracted by the same author (L.F.).

Information on consumer taxonomic group, functional feeding group, habitat, native species sampling site, resource origin and resource source were also recorded as provided by authors or searched for in the relevant literature (see Table 1 for definitions). From the native species sampling site, we obtained coordinates to categorise the latitude of native assemblages as tropical/sub-tropical (0° to 35° N and S) or temperate (>35° N and S). We also used the native species sampling site to check in the available literature if the native community shared any species from the same genus as the non-native species, considering the finest spatial scale possible, thereby inferring taxonomic distinctiveness. For example, in a study where the native species was sampled at River Lagan, Northern Ireland, Dikerogammarus villosus was the non-native species studied (Bollache et al., 2008). The genus Dikerogammarus belongs to the Ponto-Caspian faunistic complex and was thus classified as a distinctive genus for Northern Ireland, where it is

Table 1. Variables extracted from studies for each observation included in the meta-analysis.

Variable	Definition		
Consumer taxonomic group	Taxonomic group of the consumer defined as per Pyšek <i>et al.</i> (2008).		
Consumer functional feeding group	Functional feeding group of the consumer defined as carnivore, herbivore or omnivore, according to the focal study or relevant literature.		
Habitat	Type of habitat where consumer and resource interact, that is freshwater, marine (including brackish) or terrestrial, according to the focal study.		
Native species sampling site	Where native species specimens were collected for use in experiments, according to the study methods		
Resource origin	Origin of the resource species (native or non-native) according to the focal study or relevant literature. In some cases, resources were not specified as species and therefore origin was not identified.		
Resource source	Origin from where resource specimens used in experiments were sourced (wild or cultivated).		

not yet present (Özbek & Özkan, 2011). References used for this classification are provided in Dataset S1. Taxonomic distinctiveness between non-native species and the native recipient community was only tested for observations where the resource was a native species sourced in the wild to ensure they were ecologically relevant.

(3) Meta-analysis

Considering that FR parameters are usually estimated from the same model (and thus likely correlated), we performed a meta-analysis for each response variable (*a* and MCR) separately. As many studies did not provide S.E. to allow us to calculate S.D. (72% of studies without in the *a* data set, and 61% of studies without in the MCR data set), we employed the "Missing Cases" method, as proposed by Nakagawa *et al.* (2023b), where sampling variances of observations with missing S.D. are estimated by imputing the pooled coefficient of variation (CV) from the subset of studies that report S.D. We decided to handle missing data in this way because alternatively we would have needed to rely on an unweighted meta-analysis, which, given the low number of complete case observations, would significantly decrease the sample size (*k*) of our analysis.

For complete observations (i.e. those with S.D. data), we calculated the effect size and sampling variance (v) based on the log response ratio (lnRR), as originally proposed by Hedges, Gurevitch & Curtis (1999), with the bias correction recommended by Lajeunesse (2015):

$$\ln \mathbf{R}\mathbf{R} = \ln \left(\frac{m_{\rm NN}}{m_{\rm N}}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\mathrm{CV}_{\rm NN}^2}{n_{\rm NN}} - \frac{\mathrm{CV}_{\rm N}^2}{n_{\rm N}}\right) \tag{1}$$

$$v(\ln RR) = \frac{CV_{NN}^2}{n_{NN}} + \frac{CV_N^2}{n_N}$$
(2)

where $m_{\rm NN}$ is the mean FR parameter (*a* or MCR) of the nonnative species, $m_{\rm N}$ is the corresponding mean parameter estimated for the native comparator, CV (S.D./*m*) is the coefficient of variation for each consumer and *n* is the sample size. For observations with missing S.D., we calculated the effect size (lnRR) and the sampling variance using the equations proposed by Nakagawa *et al.* (2023b):

$$\ln \mathbf{RR} = \ln \left(\frac{m_{\mathrm{NN}}}{m_{\mathrm{N}}}\right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} (n_{\mathrm{NN}i} \mathrm{CV}_{\mathrm{NN}i}) / \sum_{i=1}^{K} n_{\mathrm{NN}i}\right]^{2}}{n_{\mathrm{NN}}} - \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} (n_{\mathrm{N}i} \mathrm{CV}_{\mathrm{N}i}) / \sum_{i=1}^{K} n_{\mathrm{N}i}\right]^{2}}{n_{\mathrm{N}}}\right)$$
(3)

$$\tilde{v}(\ln RR) = \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} (n_{NNi}CV_{NNi}) / \sum_{i=1}^{K} n_{NNi}\right]^{2}}{n_{NN}} + \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} (n_{Ni}CV_{Ni}) / \sum_{i=1}^{K} n_{Ni}\right]^{2}}{n_{N}} + \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} (n_{Ni}CV_{NNi}) / \sum_{i=1}^{K} n_{NNi}\right]^{4}}{2n_{NN}^{2}} + \frac{\left[\sum_{i=1}^{K} (n_{Ni}CV_{Ni}) / \sum_{i=1}^{K} n_{Ni}\right]^{4}}{2n_{N}^{2}}$$
(4)

where CV_{NNi} and CV_{Ni} are the CVs from the *i*th study (study; i = 1, 2, ..., K; assuming the number of effect sizes = the number of studies = K). If FR parameters of non-native species are greater than those of native species, the lnRR will be positive. Overall, a mean ratio that is significantly greater than zero (i.e. confidence intervals do not cross zero) would corroborate the hypothesis that non-native species have higher consumption rates than trophically analogous native species.

Given the dependence of our data set (more than one observation per study and multiple non-native species compared to the same native analogue – "shared control"), we applied a multilevel meta-analysis model with "study" as a random effect (Mengersen, Jennions & Schmid, 2013; Noble *et al.*, 2017; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2023c). To account for shared-sampling variance between effect sizes due to a common native comparator species, we used Robust Variance Estimators (RVE) (Pustejovsky & Tipton, 2022; Nakagawa

0

et al., 2023c). First, a null multilevel model was fitted using restricted maximum likelihood for each data set without explanatory variables (moderators) to assess if the overall effect size differed significantly from zero. We then quantified the amount of heterogeneity (I^2 total) of the null model using the function $i2_ml$ implemented in the "orchaRd" package (Nakagawa et al., 2023a). Given the resulting high levels of I^2 total (>98% for both data sets) (Higgins & Thompson, 2002), we employed meta-regression models to explain heterogeneity and test our predictions.

We fitted univariate meta-regression models with consumer taxonomic group and consumer functional feeding group (Table 1) as explanatory variables in exploratory analyses to assess their influence on the variability of calculated effect sizes, and with habitat, latitude, and taxonomic distinctiveness to test our predictions. We ran separate models including a single moderator each time due to insufficient sample sizes to assess interaction terms. We fitted our model to account for heterogeneous variances between groups, assuming heteroscedasticity to reduce Type 1 error rates (Rubio-Aparicio *et al.*, 2020).

All meta-analytic and meta-regression models were fitted using the *ma.mv* function in the "metafor" package v.4.4-0 (Viechtbauer, 2010), setting *test* = "t" to obtain statistics and CIs based on a *t*-distribution. Moreover, meta-regressions were fitted after setting struct = "HCS" to assume a heteroscedastic compound symmetry (heterogeneous variances). Results were visualised through forest-like plots with the *orchard_plot* function in the "orchaRd" package (Nakagawa *et al.*, 2023a). All analyses and plots were performed in the R environment v. 4.3.1 (R Core Team, 2023).

(4) Sensitivity analysis and publication bias

We checked the assumption of normality of our lnRR estimates using Geary's test improved by Lajeunesse (2015) and performed a sensitivity analysis excluding effect sizes that failed the test (i.e. \geq 3) as suggested by Lajeunesse (2015). We employed the "Missing Cases" method given the large proportion of missing data in our data set (which exceeded the 55% previously assessed by Nakagawa et al. (2023b)). However, it has been suggested that the "All Cases" method may perform better under several situations (Nakagawa et al., 2023b). We therefore repeated our analysis using the "All Cases" method as a sensitivity analysis to compare the mean estimate and its confidence limits. Finally, because we chose an arbitrary value of $\rho = 0.6$ to calculate our adjusted sampling variance matrix in the RVE analysis, we re-ran our model with $\rho = 0.1$ and 0.9 to check the robustness of our results, as suggested by Tanner-Smith & Tipton (2014).

To check for publication bias, we used the approach proposed by Nakagawa *et al.* (2022), consisting of an extension of regression-based methods (i.e. Egger's regression test) that is suitable for lnRR effect sizes and non-independent data. For this, we ran a multilevel meta-regression model using the square root of the inverse of the effective sample size as the moderator. If the intercept of the model was not statistically different from 0, we considered it as a potential adjusted estimate to check the robustness of our results (Noble *et al.*, 2017; Nakagawa *et al.*, 2022).

IV. RESULTS

A total of 62 studies were retrieved from our search and screened for eligibility. From these, 52 studies were included in the meta-analysis resulting in a total of 125 observation pairs of non-native *versus* native species (Fig. 2) that had either data on *a*, MCR or both response variables. Each study yielded an average of 2.4 ± 2.3 (mean \pm S.D.) effect sizes, with a range of 1-12. Many observations involved comparisons from studies that compared more than one non-native to the same native species (56% of effect sizes).

Most observations came from omnivores (74%)—mainly crustaceans and fishes (89%)—from freshwater habitats (86%) in temperate locations (72%). Only 44 observations were suitable to test the taxonomic distinctiveness hypothesis, and in most cases (82%) the native community did not share a species of the same genus as the non-native species.

Overall, we found higher maximum consumption rates for non-native species compared to native trophic analogues (lnRR_{MCR} = 0.285, 95% CI = 0.1–0.47; Fig. 3B). Attack rates also tended to be higher in non-native species, but this difference was not significant (lnRR_a = 0.209, 95% CI = -0.02-0.44; Fig. 3A). From total heterogeneity (I^2), the study random effect explained 41% of heterogeneity in the *a* data set, and 30% in the MCR data set.

Effect sizes of attack rate were not significantly positive across consumer taxonomic groups (Fig. 4A; Table 2). Regarding consumer functional feeding group, non-native carnivores had a significantly higher attack rate compared to native analogues (Table 2, Fig. 4B); however, effect sizes did not differ significantly among functional feeding groups (test of moderators: $F_{(2,45)} = 1.79$, P = 0.17). Effect sizes of attack rate of freshwater taxa were significantly positive (Table 2, Fig. 4C), but did not significantly differ among habitats ($F_{(2,45)} = 1.03$, P = 0.36). Effect sizes were not significantly different from zero regarding latitude of the native assemblage (Table 2, Fig. 4D).

Molluscs, insects and crustaceans had significantly positive effect sizes of MCR (Table 2, Fig. 5A); however, taxonomic groups did not differ significantly ($F_{(4,47)} = 1.74$, P = 0.16). Contrary to the trend observed for attack rate, non-native carnivores did not have a significantly higher MCR compared to natives, but a positive effect size was observed for non-native omnivores and herbivores (Table 2, Fig. 5B). Nevertheless, we found no significant differences among functional feeding group effect sizes ($F_{(2,49)} = 2.35$, P = 0.11). As observed for attack rates, MCR was significantly positive only for freshwater taxa (Table 2, Fig. 5C), while no significant differences in effect sizes were observed among habitats ($F_{(2,49)} = 1.35$, P = 0.27). Observations from tropical native assemblages were significantly positive (Table 2, Fig. 5D) and

14691 85x, 2025, 3, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13179 by Mcgill University, Wiley Online Library on [08/07/2025]. See the Terms

and Conditions

(https://

onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms

and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License



Fig. 2. PRISMA flowchart showing the number of studies (K) that used the comparative functional response (CFR) approach and observations (k) as pairs of non-native and native species consuming the same resource that were retrieved, screened and included in our final data set.

also significantly different from observations of temperate regions ($F_{(1,50)} = 5.08$, P = 0.03).

We did not find evidence that non-natives from a distinct genus relative to those in the native community have higher FR parameters (Table 3, Fig. 6). By contrast, non-natives that share their genus with the native community had significantly positive effect sizes for MCR (Table 3, Fig. 6B), with results differing in strength from consumers that do not share the same genus ($F_{(1,42)} = 4.99$, P = 0.03).

Only two effect sizes (*a* and MCR from the same observation pair) failed to meet the normality assumption calculated by Geary's test. The sensitivity analysis performed without these two effect sizes did not differ significantly from our original null model (Table S1). Applying the "All Cases" method did not significantly change the results obtained using the "Missing Cases" method (i.e. similar estimates and 95% CI; Table S1). Finally, we obtained the same results using $\rho = 0.1$ and 0.9 as those originally obtained considering $\rho = 0.6$ (Table S1).

The intercept of our meta-regression testing for publication bias was not significant for both response variables (*a*: mean intercept = -0.591, P = 0.22; MCR: mean intercept = 0.128, P = 0.75), thus we did not find evidence of a publication bias using this method. Additionally, we

A Attack rate



Fig. 3. Orchard plots of the overall effect size (lnRR) obtained by our null multilevel meta-analysis model for both response variables: (A) attack rate and (B) maximum consumption rate. Positive effect sizes indicate that non-native species have higher functional response parameters than natives. The mean estimated effect size (solid filled circle) is considered statistically significant when the thick horizontal error bars (95% confidence intervals) do not cross the dashed line at zero. Thin horizontal whiskers indicate prediction intervals. *k* is the number of effect sizes followed by the number of studies in parentheses. I^2 depicts the total heterogeneity of the model.

can consider the mean estimate of this meta-regression as an adjusted estimate of our overall effect size (Table S1). Regarding *a*, the mean estimate changed to a higher value of 0.273 with 95% CI not crossing the zero line, and for MCR there was a subtle change from 0.285 to 0.295 (Table S1).

V. DISCUSSION

Many hypotheses in invasion science aim to explain the subset of non-native species that are both successful invaders and cause significant negative impacts in invaded ecosystems (Catford, Jansson & Nilsson, 2009; Ricciardi *et al.*, 2013; Enders *et al.*, 2020; Daly *et al.*, 2023). Non-native species are often deemed more damaging than native species to resource populations (Salo *et al.*, 2007; Paolucci, MacIsaac & Ricciardi, 2013; McKnight *et al.*, 2016). Thus, the Resource Consumption Hypothesis posits that successful and impactful non-native species are able to use key resources more efficiently than trophically analogous native species (Ricciardi *et al.*, 2013; Dick *et al.*, 2014; Faria *et al.*, 2023a). Here, we provide the largest quantitative test of this hypothesis to date using data from CFR studies. We found that, in general, non-native species have higher maximum consumption rates and a tendency for higher attack rates compared to analogous native species, corroborating the hypothesis. Nevertheless, the consumptive *per-capita* effects of non-native species vary depending on other factors, such as their taxonomic group and functional feeding group, as well as with the ecosystem or habitat where the interaction takes place.

(1) Resource consumption hypothesis

Attack rates were significantly higher only for non-native carnivores and freshwater taxa, although tendencies were mostly positive in favour of non-native species. These results



⁽Figure 4 legend continues on next page.)

Biological Reviews 100 (2025) 1163-1180 © 2025 Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Table 2. Mean estimated effect sizes for both response variables ($\ln RR_a$: attack rate and $\ln RR_{MCR}$: maximum consumption rate) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), obtained for each group from univariate meta-regression models considering potential influential moderators.

	$\ln RR_a$	95% CI	lnRR _{MCR}	95% CI
Consumer taxonomic	group			
Arthropod	0.171	[-1.074 to 1.416]	0.216	[-0.592 to 1.024]
Crustacean	0.105	[-0.143 to 0.354]	0.302	[0.089 to 0.515]
Fish	0.351	[-0.027 to 0.729]	0.194	[-0.097 to 0.485]
Insect	0.452	[-0.250 to 1.154]	0.414	[0.068 to 0.760]
Mollusc	0.587	[-0.735 to 1.909]	1.042	[0.441 to 1.643]
Consumer functional	feeding group			L J
Carnivore	0.517	[0.115 to 0.919]	0.177	[-0.238 to $0.591]$
Herbivore	0.590	[-0.728 to 1.908]	1.004	[0.328 to 1.680]
Omnivore	0.106	[-0.131 to 0.344]	0.289	0.099 to 0.479
Habitat		L J		L J
Freshwater	0.287	[0.032 to 0.541]	0.341	[0.148 to 0.533]
Marine	-0.074	[-0.589 to 0.442]	-0.120	[-0.657 to 0.417]
Terrestrial	-0.116	[-1.147 to 0.915]	0.333	[-0.045 to 0.711]
Latitude of the native	assemblage	i j		L J
Temperate	0.176	[-0.081 to 0.433]	0.191	[-0.025 to 0.406]
Tropical	0.299	[-0.235 to 0.832]	0.607	[0.305 to 0.909]

reveal that, in general, non-native species do not differ from native species in efficiency of consuming resources when these are at low densities. This aligns with two related hypotheses linked to resource availability: the Increased Resource Availability hypothesis, which states that the invasion success of non-native species increases with the availability of resources (Sher & Hvatt, 1999) and the Resource-Enemy Release hypothesis, which predicts that non-native species released from their natural enemies can spend more energy on reproduction, and likewise successfully invade when resources are highly available (Blumenthal, 2006). Both hypotheses are rooted in the idea of spatiotemporal fluctuations in resources favouring non-native species over natives (Davis, Grime & Thompson, 2000). At low availability of resources, native species could perform equally or better than more specialist non-native species, as they are well adapted to these conditions; however, when resource availability increases, for example in response to human disturbance, non-native species will likely outperform native species (Daehler, 2003). Although most of the studies providing evidence for these hypotheses were performed with plants (Liu & van Kleunen, 2017; Knauf et al., 2021), the postulated mechanisms may also apply to animal consumers. Experimental design characteristics may also explain this pattern, since FR studies typically employ non-replacement protocols, whereby resources are not replenished following consumption. This could dampen the detection of differences at low resource densities between natives and non-natives as they rapidly consume all available resources (Alexander *et al.*, 2012). However, since our study compares non-natives with natives, and the absolute parameters/FR shapes are thus not of as much interest as the comparisons, the above explanations are considered robust.

Conversely, maximum consumption rates were significantly higher overall, specifically for invertebrates (except arthropods), omnivores and herbivores, freshwater taxa and non-native species that shared their genus with the native community. Non-native invertebrates (except arthropods) showed higher MCR than natives, which is consistent with findings of a comparison of native *versus* non-native consumer effect sizes in the field (Paolucci *et al.*, 2013), but this pattern was not observed for fishes. Among invertebrates, molluscs presented the highest differential MCR, but results are mainly representative of two species of non-native herbivorous gastropods, the highly invasive *Pomacea canaliculata* (golden apple snail) and the non-invasive *Planorbarius corneus* (great ramshorn snail) preying on a diversity of macrophyte

⁽Figure legend continued from previous page.)

Fig. 4. Orchard plots showing effect size (lnRR) estimates of attack rate from univariate meta-regressions with potentially influential moderators: (A) consumer taxonomic group, (B) consumer functional feeding group, (C) habitat and (D) latitude of the native assemblage. Positive effect sizes indicate that non-native species have higher functional response parameters than native species in that group. Mean effects for each group (solid filled circles) are statistically significant when thick horizontal error bars (95% confidence intervals) do not cross the dashed line at zero. Thin horizontal whiskers indicate prediction intervals. k is the number of effect sizes followed by the number of studies in parentheses. Each shadowed circle represents an individual effect size, scaled according to its precision.



⁽Figure 5 legend continues on next page.)

Biological Reviews 100 (2025) 1163-1180 © 2025 Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Table 3. Mean estimated effect sizes for both response variables ($\ln RR_a$: attack rate and $\ln RR_{MCR}$: maximum consumption rate) and their corresponding 95% confidence intervals (95% CI), considering taxonomic distinctiveness of the non-native species as a potential influential moderator.

	$\ln RR_a$	95% CI	lnRR _{MCR}	95% CI
Non-native species of a distinct genus	0.278	[-0.143 to 0.698]	0.104	[-0.523 to 0.731]
Non-native species of a shared genus	0.006	[-0.514 to 0.526]	0.951	[0.082 to 1.82]

resources compared to the native snail Bellamya aeruginosa (Xu et al., 2016). Likewise, non-native omnivores and herbivores exhibited higher MCR compared to their native counterparts. This result, however, should be interpreted in line with the usual experimental setting applied in FR studies. In general, experiments are performed by offering the consumer a single type of prey in the absence of alternative resources, which may not be realistic for omnivores that feed on a wide range of items (Maselou et al., 2014; Médoc, Thuillier & Spataro, 2018). Nevertheless, their capacity for consuming significantly more food than native omnivores when resources are abundant reveals their opportunistic habits, an important trait in successful invasive species (Vatland & Budy, 2007; Romanuk et al., 2009). Herbivores, typically represented by molluscs in our data set, had the highest MCR mean effect size, contributing to the body of evidence that non-native snails are highly efficient consumers when resources are abundant (Morrison & Hay, 2011; Liu et al., 2021).

(2) Predictions

We found that, in accordance with our prediction, differences between non-native and native species in attack rate and MCR were significantly greater than zero only for freshwater taxa and not for marine and terrestrial taxa. This finding should be interpreted with caution, owing to the relatively small number of terrestrial and marine studies for comparison. Nevertheless, the pattern is consistent with the view that a greater degree of insularity in lakes and river basins creates evolutionary isolation and thus greater potential naiveté of their populations compared with continental terrestrial and marine habitats (Cox & Lima, 2006). An interesting subsequent question surrounds whether this effect lessens with time since invasion as communities adapt and novelty lessens (see Anton et al., 2020). Our results also align with the greater proportion of high-impact invasive species found in freshwater compared to marine habitats (Ricciardi & Kipp, 2008). Unfortunately, there are no studies from terrestrial taxa on islands to compare the effect of insularity in this realm.

Regarding the latitude of the native assemblage, our results were contrary to expectations, with significant differences in the MCR of non-native species that are introduced to tropical and sub-tropical latitudes. The stronger predation pressure in the tropics due to greater diversity does not seem to provide protection against novel consumers as anticipated (Freestone et al., 2021). In fact, as there are more specialised interactions in the tropics (Dobzhansky, 1950), prey might have evolved specific defences against their native predators, which are likely not effective against novel predators since they have a low level of eco-evolutionary experience in interacting with them (Saul & Jeschke, 2015). Nevertheless, the majority of the observations used in our meta-analysis come from temperate regions (72%), which creates a bias for this region, a pattern commonly observed in invasion ecology studies (Pyšek et al., 2008; Chong et al., 2021), and one that impedes a balanced interpretation of these results.

We expected that non-natives from a distinct genus would be more impactful to resources due to the lack of shared evolutionary history that makes prey more vulnerable to them (Ricciardi & Atkinson, 2004; Anton et al., 2020). However, we found that MCRs of consumers that share a genus with the native community were significantly higher compared to native analogues. This could be explained by the alternative "pre-adaptation" hypothesis: consumers more closely related to trophically analogous natives are more likely to perform well owing to pre-adaptation to available food resources (Ricciardi & Mottiar, 2006). Indeed, non-native species are more likely to establish and impact native communities when they are closely related to natives, consistent with the latter hypothesis (Ma et al., 2016; Xu et al., 2024). Taxonomic distinctiveness, driven by prey naiveté and lack of resident enemies, might be most pronounced when the invasive non-native species is a top predator (therefore lacking a native trophic analogue) or some other uncontrolled consumer (e.g. zebra mussels Dreissena polymorpha) (Ricciardi et al., 2013). From a methodological

(Figure legend continued from previous page.)

Fig. 5. Orchard plots showing effect size (lnRR) estimates of maximum consumption rate from univariate meta-regressions with potentially influential moderators: (A) consumer taxonomic group, (B) consumer functional feeding group, (C) habitat and (D) latitude of the native assemblage. Positive effect sizes indicate that non-native species have higher functional response parameters than natives in that group. Mean effects for each group (solid filled circles) are statistically significant when thick horizontal error bars (95% confidence intervals) do not cross the dashed line at zero. Thin horizontal whiskers indicate prediction intervals. k is the number of effect sizes followed by the number of studies in parentheses. Each shadowed circle represents an individual effect size, scaled according to its precision.



Fig. 6. Orchard plots showing effect size (lnRR) estimates from univariate meta-regression considering taxonomic distinctiveness of the non-native species as an influential moderator, for both response variables: (A) attack rate and (B) maximum consumption rate. Positive effect sizes indicate that non-native species have higher functional response parameters than natives in that group. Mean effects for each group (solid filled circles) are statistically significant when thick horizontal error bars (95% confidence intervals) do not cross the dashed line of zero. Thin horizontal whiskers indicate prediction intervals. *k* is the number of effect sizes followed by the number of studies in parentheses. Each shadowed circle represents an individual effect size, scaled according to its precision.

stance, the presence of common genera among native assemblages could improve native comparator selection and representativeness, thus potentially accentuating differences from analogous non-natives. Given our limited sample size with a higher proportion of consumers from a distinct genus than those from the native community (82%), these results are not a strong refutation of this hypothesis.

(3) Study limitations, future directions and concluding remarks

The CFR approach was originally designed as a tool to understand known impacts of non-native species and to predict the consumptive impact of newly introduced species with no history of invasion elsewhere (Dick *et al.*, 2014, 2017a). Here, we used studies that compared non-native *versus* native species without explicit consideration of non-native negative impacts in the field. Therefore, a subset of invasive non-native species with demonstrable empirical impacts would likely show stronger effect sizes. We recognise that the selection of most established non-native species assessed in the studies was likely motivated by a prior impact, but our results might still be conservative, particularly because in some study systems, extreme ecological novelty results in a total paucity of available wild analogous comparators (e.g. a novel taxonomic order). Additionally, the results of our meta-analysis are based on the subset of non-native species investigated by the studies found in the literature search. These are not

necessarily representative of other non-native species, as not all non-native species have been studied in this perspective. Despite not finding evidence for publication bias, we should keep in mind that author or publication biases might be a concern (Jeschke *et al.*, 2019), since it is likely that impactful non-native species are studied more frequently than nonnative species with low impact.

We also note that impact can change over time (e.g. because novelty and naivety diminish temporally; Saul & Jeschke, 2015). However, few studies state the time period since the non-native study species was introduced, or assess changes in FR parameters over a long timescale, and our results might therefore vary according to this aspect (Strayer et al., 2006; Crystal-Ornelas & Lockwood, 2020). Indeed, it was observed for invasive plants that their negative effects on the native community decline over longer time periods (Iacarella, Mankiewicz & Ricciardi, 2015b). Effects can also vary along spatial gradients. A study assessing the per-capita effects of a known invasive predator Hemimysis anomala (bloody red mysid shrimp) from two distinct sites with different times since introduction found that feeding rates were higher at the invasion front (i.e. the recently invaded site) (Iacarella, Dick & Ricciardi, 2015a). It also highlights more broadly that ecological impacts can differ among distinct populations of non-native species due to eco-evolutionary processes and local contexts (Howard et al., 2018; Haubrock et al., 2024). Thus, future studies should consider time since introduction and spatial factors, and should clearly state if they are evaluating a novel or established non-native population.

Our finding that non-native species have a higher consumption rate than native counterparts, particularly when resource availability is high, has important implications for management and conservation. Greater exploitation of resources by non-natives can lead to an increase in their numerical response (i.e. abundance) in the long term, increasing the predation pressure on native biota (Dick et al., 2017b), which may result in boom-bust dynamics that complicate our ability to control non-native populations (Strayer et al., 2006; Haubrock et al., 2022). Still, this increased availability of resources can be the result of a non-native species itself, as in cases where an abundant non-native prey sustains a non-native predator population (Simberloff & Holle, 1999; Pope et al., 2008). What remains to be tested is if increased resource availability coupled with multiple non-native species will always result in more impact, or if other mechanisms, such as indirect effects or interference competition, can prevent impact (e.g. Bunke et al., 2019; Faria, Vitule & Olden, 2023b). In other words, are highly resource-abundant communities more susceptible to impacts than previously anticipated? Or does higher resource availability actually negate the impact, because the species will have enough to consume (even though non-natives will consume at higher rates)? In this case, we encourage more research by applying CFR to reveal such feedback processes, thereby informing best management practices.

Invasion science has relied on invasion history and qualitative or quantitative assessment protocols to identify and prioritise non-native species that should be managed (Faria et al., 2023a); nonetheless, as the number of new introductions worldwide continues to rise, a lack of historical data will impede applications of these tools to all non-native species (Seebens et al., 2021). To avoid higher rates of biodiversity loss that will result in a homogenised world dominated by a subset of total species diversity (McKinney & Lockwood, 1999), our focus should be on prevention rather than remediation (Leung et al., 2002). As many invasive non-native species have negative impacts that ultimately stem from resource consumption, quantifying such impacts using rapid experiments in terms of resource use is a practical way of predicting and therefore proactively targeting those most likely to cause harm (Dick et al., 2017a). Our meta-analysis corroborates this, showing that non-native species indeed display higher consumption rates, and in some cases greater attack rates. We also highlight high-risk contexts for consumptive effects, including freshwater environments. Overall, these results support the use of the CFR approach as a rapid risk assessment tool for existing and emerging non-native species to cause negative impacts worldwide.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Maximum consumption rates of non-native species are higher than their native counterparts, supporting the Resource Consumption Hypothesis, which can partly explain how successful non-native species can reduce native resource populations and restructure food webs.

(2) Particular taxa and trophic interactions were associated with the greatest differential functional responses between non-natives and natives, specifically molluscs, insects and crustaceans as well as herbivores and omnivores in terms of maximum consumption rates.

(3) Consumption rate differences between non-native and native species were greatest for freshwater taxa, which could indicate greater sensitivity of insular freshwater food webs to novel consumers, lending weight to inland waters as a priority for management. These differences need to be further explored using a larger, more comprehensive data set of terrestrial (mainland and island) and marine systems as these become available. (4) There is a current lack of data from CFR studies across space and time to allow us to investigate if consumptive impact depends on these factors. Therefore, future studies employing the CFR approach should consider these context dependencies to consolidate it further as an impact assessment tool and a guide for invasive non-native species management.

VII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior – Brasil (CAPES) – Finance Code 001. R.N.C. is funded by the Leverhulme Trust Early Career Fellowship (ECF-2021-001), and J.W.E.D. by a Leibniz Institute of Freshwater Ecology and Inland Fisheries (IGB) postdoc grant. A.R. acknowledges a grant from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada. J.R.S.V. is grateful to the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq) for a Research Productivity grant (310471/2023-0).

VIII. AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

L.F.: Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – Original Draft, Visualisation, Supervision. R.N.C.: Validation. J.W.E.D.: Validation. J.R.S.V.: Supervision. All authors contributed to Conceptualisation, Writing – Review & Editing.

IX. DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data and code can be accessed at https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.26042386.

X. REFERENCES

- Studies identified with an asterisk (*) were included in the meta-analysis; studies identified with a dagger symbol (†) are cited only within the online supporting information.
- ALEXANDER, M. E., DICK, J. T. A., O'CONNOR, N. E., HADDAWAY, N. R. & FARNSWORTH, K. D. (2012). Functional responses of the intertidal amphipod *Echinoganimarus marinus*: effects of prey supply, model selection and habitat complexity. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **468**, 191–202.
- *ALEXANDER, M. E., DICK, J. T. A., WEYL, O. L. F., ROBINSON, T. B. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2014). Existing and emerging high impact invasive species are characterized by higher functional responses than natives. *Biology Letters* 10, 20130946.
- ANTON, A., GERALDI, N. R., RICCIARDI, A. & DICK, J. T. A. (2020). Global determinants of prey naiveté to exotic predators. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 287, 20192978.
- *BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., DICK, J. T. A., EMMERSON, M. C., RICCIARDI, A. & MACISAAC, H. J. (2015). Predator-free space, functional responses and biological invasions. *Functional Ecology* 29, 377–384.
- *BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., DICK, J. T. A., EMMERSON, M. C., RICCIARDI, A., MACISAAC, H. J., ALEXANDER, M. E. & BOVY, H. C. (2014a). Fortune favours the bold: a higher predator reduces the impact of a native but not an invasive intermediate predator. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 83, 693–701.
- *BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., DICK, J. T. A., RICCIARDI, A., MACISAAC, H. J. & EMMERSON, M. C. (2014b). Deep impact: *in situ* functional responses reveal context-dependent interactions between vertically migrating invasive and native mesopredators and shared prey. *Freshwater Biology* 59, 2194–2203.
- BELLARD, C., CASSEY, P. & BLACKBURN, T. M. (2016). Alien species as a driver of recent extinctions. *Biology Letters* 12, 1–4.
- BLACKBURN, T. M., BELLARD, C. & RICCIARDI, A. (2019). Alien versus native species as drivers of recent extinctions. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 17, 203–207.
- BLUMENTHAL, D. M. (2006). Interactions between resource availability and enemy release in plant invasion. *Ecology Letters* 9, 887–895.
- *BOETS, P., LAVERTY, C., FUKUDA, S., VERREYCKEN, H., GREEN, K., BRITTON, R. J., CAFFREY, J., GOETHALS, P. L. M., PEGG, J., MÉDOC, V. & DICK, J. T. A. (2019). Intra- and intercontinental variation in the functional responses of a high impact alien invasive fish. *Biological Invasions* 21, 1751–1762.
- *BOLLACHE, L., DICK, J. T. A., FARNSWORTH, K. D. & MONTGOMERY, W. I. (2008). Comparison of the functional responses of invasive and native amphipods. *Biology Letters* 4, 166–169.
- *BOVY, H. C., BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., EMMERSON, M. C., ALDRIDGE, D. C. & DICK, J. T. A. (2015). Predicting the predatory impacts of the "demon shrimp" *Dikerogammarus haemobaphes*, on native and previously introduced species. *Biological Invasions* 17, 597–607.

- †BREDEN, F., PTACEK, M. B., RASHED, M., TAPHORN, D. & FIGUEIREDO, C. A. (1999). Molecular phylogeny of the live-bearing fish genus *Poecilia* (Cyprinodontiformes: Poeciliidae). *Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution* **12**, 95–104.
- BRISKI, E., KOTRONAKI, S. G., CUTHBERT, R. N., BORTOLUS, A., CAMPBELL, M. L., DICK, J. T. A., FOFONOFF, P., GALL, B. S., HEWITT, C. L., LOCKWOOD, J. L., MACISAAC, H. J., RICCIARDI, A., RUIZ, G., SCHWINDT, E., SOMMER, U., *et al.* (2024). Does non-native diversity mirror Earth's biodiversity? *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 33, 48–62.
- *BRITTON, J. R., ROBERTS, C. G., TRIGO, F. A., NOLAN, E. T. & DE SANTIS, V. (2019). Predicting the ecological impacts of an alien invader: experimental approaches reveal the trophic consequences of competition. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 88, 1066–1078.
- BUBA, Y., DELONG, J. P. & BELMAKER, J. (2022). Synthesizing drivers of fish functional responses across species. *Fish and Fisheries* 23, 376–391.
- BUCKLEY, Y. M. & CATFORD, J. A. (2016). Does the biogeographic origin of species matter? Ecological effects of native and non-native species and the use of origin to guide management. *Journal of Ecology* **104**, 4–17.
- *BUNKE, M., DICK, J. T. A., HATCHER, M. J. & DUNN, A. M. (2019). Parasites influence cannibalistic and predatory interactions within and between native and invasive amphipods. *Diseases of Aquatic Organisms* 136, 79–86.
- *CARVALHO, T. L., FERREIRA, E. D. A., PELICICE, F. M. & FERNANDES, R. (2021). Comparative functional responses predict the predatory impact of the highly invasive fish *Cichla kelberi*. *Hydrobiologia* 848, 2203–2211.
- CATFORD, J. A., JANSSON, R. & NILSSON, C. (2009). Reducing redundancy in invasion ecology by integrating hypotheses into a single theoretical framework. *Diversity and Distributions* 15, 22–40.
- †CHEN, G., CHANG, M.-M. & LIU, H. (2015). Revision of *Cyprinus maoningensis* Liu 1957 and the first discovery of Procypris-like cyprinid (Teleostei, Pisces) from the late Eocene of South China. *Science China Earth Sciences* 58, 1123–1132.
- CHONG, K. Y., CORLETT, R. T., NUÑEZ, M. A., CHIU, J. H., COURCHAMP, F., DAWSON, W., KUEBBING, S., LIEBHOLD, A. M., PADMANABA, M., SOUZA, L., ANDERSEN, K. M., FEI, S., LEE, B. P. Y.-H., LUM, S., LUSKIN, M. S., *ET AL.* (2021). Are terrestrial biological invasions different in the tropics? *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* **52**, 291–314.
- *CHUCHOLL, F. & CHUCHOLL, C. (2021). Differences in the functional responses of four invasive and one native crayfish species suggest invader-specific ecological impacts. *Freshwater Biology* 66, 2051–2063.
- *COUGHLAN, N. E., DICKEY, J. W. E., DICK, J. T. A., MÉDOC, V., MCCARD, M., LACROIX, G., FIORINI, S., MILLOT, A. & CUTHBERT, R. N. (2022). When worlds collide: invader-driven benthic habitat complexity alters predatory impacts of invasive and native predatory fishes. *Science of the Total Environment* 843, 156876.
- COX, J. G. & LIMA, S. L. (2006). Naiveté and an aquatic-terrestrial dichotomy in the effects of introduced predators. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 21, 674–680.
- *CROOKES, S., DEROY, E. M., DICK, J. T. A. & MACISAAC, H. J. (2019). Comparative functional responses of introduced and native ladybird beetles track ecological impact through predation and competition. *Biological Invasions* 21, 519–529.
- CRYSTAL-ORNELAS, R. & LOCKWOOD, J. L. (2020). The 'known unknowns' of invasive species impact measurement. *Biological Invasions* 22, 1513–1525.
- *CUTHBERT, R. N. & BRISKI, E. (2023). Divergent desalination effects on alien and native gammarid functional responses. *Marine Biology* 170, 32.
- CUTHBERT, R. N., DICKEY, J. W. E., COUGHLAN, N. E., JOYCE, P. W. S. & DICK, J. T. A. (2019). The functional response ratio (FRR): advancing comparative metrics for predicting the ecological impacts of invasive alien species. *Biological Invasions* 21, 2543–2547.
- *CUTHBERT, R. N., KOTRONAKI, S. G., HÜTT, J. C., RENK, E., WARLO, N. & BRISKI, E. (2022). Do alternative resources dampen functional responses of native but not alien gammarids? *Ecology and Evolution* 12, e9262.
- DAEHLER, C. C. (2003). Performance comparisons of co-occurring native and alien invasive plants: implications for conservation and restoration. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 34, 183–211.
- DALY, E. Z., CHABRERIE, O., MASSOL, F., FACON, B., HESS, M. C. M., TASIEMSKI, A., GRANDJEAN, F., CHAUVAT, M., VIARD, F., FOREY, E., FOLCHER, L., BUISSON, E., BOIVIN, T., BALTORA-ROSSET, S., ULMER, R., *ET AL.* (2023). A synthesis of biological invasion hypotheses associated with the introduction-naturalisation-invasion continuum. *Oikos 2023*, e09645.
- DAVIS, M. A., GRIME, J. P. & THOMPSON, K. (2000). Fluctuating resources in plant communities: a general theory of invasibility. *Journal of Ecology* 88, 528–534.
- †DEHUS, P., PHILLIPSON, S., BOHL, E., OIDTMANN, B., KELLER, M. & LECHLEITER, S. (1999). German conservation strategies for native crayfish species with regard to alien species. In *Crayfish in Europe as Alien Species*, pp. 146–160. Routledge, Rotterdam.
- DELONG, J. P. (2021). Predator Ecology: Evolutionary Ecology of the Functional Response. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- *DEROY, E. M., CROOKES, S., MATHESON, K., SCOTT, R., MCKENZIE, C. H., ALEXANDER, M. E., DICK, J. T. A. & MACISAAC, H. J. (2022). Predatory ability

and abundance forecast the ecological impacts of two aquatic invasive species. *NeoBiota* **71**, 91–112.

- *DEROY, E. M., SCOTT, R., HUSSEY, N. & MACISAAC, H. (2020). High predatory efficiency and abundance drive expected ecological impacts of a marine invasive fish. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 637, 195–208.
- DICK, J. T. A., ALEXANDER, M. E., JESCHKE, J., RICCIARDI, A., MACISAAC, H. J., ROBINSON, T. B., KUMSCHICK, S., WEYL, O. L. F., DUNN, A. M., HATCHER, M. J., PATERSON, R. A., FARNSWORTH, K. D. & RICHARDSON, D. M. (2014). Advancing impact prediction and hypothesis testing in invasion ecology using a comparative functional response approach. *Biological Imazions* 16, 735–753.
- DICK, J. T. A., ALEXANDER, M. E., RICCIARDI, A., LAVERTY, C., DOWNEY, P. O., XU, M., JESCHKE, J., SAUL, W.-C., HILL, M. P., WASSERMAN, R., BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., WEYL, O. L. F. & SHAW, R. H. (2017*a*). Functional responses can unify invasion ecology. *Biological Invasions* 19, 1667–1672.
- *DICK, J. T. A., GALLAGHER, K., AVLIJAS, S., CLARKE, H. C., LEWIS, S. E., LEUNG, S., MINCHIN, D., CAFFREY, J., ALEXANDER, M. E., MAGUIRE, C., HARROD, C., REID, N., HADDAWAY, N. R., FARNSWORTH, K. D., PENK, M., *ET AL.* (2013). Ecological impacts of an invasive predator explained and predicted by comparative functional responses. *Biological Invasions* 15, 837–846.
- DICK, J. T. A., LAVERTY, C., LENNON, J. J., BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., MENSINK, P. J., BRITTON, J. R., MÉDOC, V., BOETS, P., ALEXANDER, M. E., TAYLOR, N. G., DUNN, A. M., HATCHER, M. J., ROSEWARNE, P. J., CROOKES, S., MACISAAC, H. J., *ET AL.* (2017b). Invader relative impact potential: a new metric to understand and predict the ecological impacts of existing, emerging and future invasive alien species. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 54, 1259–1267.
- *DICKEY, J. W. E., ARNOTT, G., MCGLADE, C. L. O., MOORE, A., RIDDELL, G. E. & DICK, J. T. A. (2022). Threats at home? Assessing the potential ecological impacts and risks of commonly traded pet fishes. *NeoBiota* 73, 109–136.
- *DICKEY, J. W. E., COUGHLAN, N. E., DICK, J. T. A., MÉDOC, V., MCCARD, M., LEAVITT, P. R., LACROIX, G., FIORINI, S., MILLOT, A. & CUTHBERT, R. N. (2021a). Breathing space: deoxygenation of aquatic environments can drive differential ecological impacts across biological invasion stages. *Biological Invasions* 23, 2831–2847.
- *DICKEY, J. W. E., CUTHBERT, R. N., STEFFEN, G. T., DICK, J. T. A. & BRISKI, E. (2021b). Sea freshening may drive the ecological impacts of emerging and existing invasive non-native species. *Diversity and Distributions* 27, 144–156.
- DOBZHANSKY, T. (1950). Evolution in the tropics. American Scientist 38, 209-221.
- *DOMINGUEZ ALMELA, V., SOUTH, J. & BRITTON, J. R. (2021). Predicting the competitive interactions and trophic niche consequences of a globally invasive fish with threatened native species. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **90**, 2651–2662.
- ENDERS, M., HAVEMANN, F., RULAND, F., BERNARD-VERDIER, M., CATFORD, J. A., GÓMEZ-APARICIO, L., HAIDER, S., HEGER, T., KUEFFER, C., KÜHN, I., MEYERSON, L. A., MUSSEAU, C., NOVOA, A., RICCIARDI, A., SAGOUIS, A., *ET AL.* (2020). A conceptual map of invasion biology: integrating hypotheses into a consensus network. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **29**, 978–991.
- *FARAZMAND, A., FATHIPOUR, Y. & KAMALI, K. (2012). Functional response and mutual interference of *Neoseiulus californicus* and *Typhlodromus bagdasarjani* (Acari: Phytoseiidae) on *Tetranychus urticae* (Acari: Tetranychidae). *International Journal of Acarology* 38, 369–376.
- *FARIA, L., ALEXANDER, M. E. & VITULE, J. R. S. (2019). Assessing the impacts of the introduced channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus* using the comparative functional response approach. *Fisheries Management and Ecology* 26, 570–577.
- FARIA, L., CUTHBERT, R. N., DICKEY, J. W. E., JESCHKE, J. M., RICCIARDI, A., DICK, J. T. A. & VITULE, J. R. S. (2023a). The rise of the functional response in invasion science: a systematic review. *NooBiota* 85, 43–79.
- FARIA, L., VITULE, J. R. S. & OLDEN, J. D. (2023b). Predation risk by largemouth bass modulates feeding functional responses of native and non-native crayfish. *NeoBiota* 87, 191–212.
- *FINCHAM, W. N. W., DUNN, A. M., BROWN, L. E., HESKETH, H. & ROY, H. E. (2019). Invasion success of a widespread invasive predator may be explained by a high predatory efficacy but may be influenced by pathogen infection. *Biological Invasions* 21, 3545–3560.
- FRANCO, A. C. S., GARCÍA-BERTHOU, E. & DOS SANTOS, L. N. (2021). Ecological impacts of an invasive top predator fish across South America. *Science of the Total Environment* 761, 143296.
- FREESTONE, A. L., TORCHIN, M. E., JURGENS, L. J., BONFIM, M., LÓPEZ, D. P., REPETTO, M. F., SCHLÖDER, C., SEWALL, B. J. & RUIZ, G. M. (2021). Stronger predation intensity and impact on prey communities in the tropics. *Ecology* 102, e03428.
- FUNK, J. L. & VITOUSEK, P. M. (2007). Resource-use efficiency and plant invasion in low-resource systems. *Nature* 446, 1079–1081.
- GOUDSWAARD, P. C., WITTE, F. & KATUNZI, E. F. B. (2002). The tilapiine fish stock of Lake Victoria before and after the Nile perch upsurge. *Journal of Fish Biology* **60**, 838–856.
- *GRIFFITH, R. M., CUTHBERT, R. N., JOHNSON, J. V., HARDIMAN, G. & DICK, J. T. A. (2023). Resilient amphipods: gammarid predatory behaviour is

unaffected by microplastic exposure and deoxygenation. Science of the Total Environment 883, 163582.

- *GRIMM, J., DICK, J. T. A., VERREYCKEN, H., JESCHKE, J. M., LINZMAIER, S. M. & RICCIARDI, A. (2020). Context-dependent differences in the functional responses of conspecific native and non-native crayfishes. *NeoBiota* 54, 71–88.
- *GUO, Z., SHEATH, D., AMAT TRIGO, F. & BRITTON, J. R. (2017). Comparative functional responses of native and high-impacting invasive fishes: impact predictions for native prey populations. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 26, 533–540.
- *HADDAWAY, N. R., WILCOX, R. H., HEPTONSTALL, R. E. A., GRIFFITHS, H. M., MORTIMER, R. J. G., CHRISTMAS, M. & DUNN, A. M. (2012). Predatory functional response and prey choice identify predation differences between native/invasive and parasitised/unparasitised crayfish. *PLoS One* 7, e32229.
- HASSELL, M. P. (1978). The Dynamics of Arthopod Predator-Prey Systems. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- HAUBROCK, P. J., AHMED, D. A., CUTHBERT, R. N., STUBBINGTON, R., DOMISCH, S., MARQUEZ, J. R. G., BEIDAS, A., AMATULLI, G., KIESEL, J., SHEN, L. Q., SOTO, I., ANGELER, D. G., BONADA, N., CAÑEDO-ARGÜELLES, M., CSABAI, Z., *ET AL.* (2022). Invasion impacts and dynamics of a European-wide introduced species. *Global Change Biology* 28, 4620–4632.
- HAUBROCK, P. J., SOTO, I., AHMED, D. A., ANSARI, A. R., TARKAN, A. S., KURTUL, I., MACÈDO, R. L., LÁZARO-LOBO, A., TOUTAIN, M., PARKER, B., BIOŃSKA, D., GUARESCHI, S., CANO-BARBACIL, C., DOMINGUEZ ALMELA, V., ANDREOU, D., *ET AL.* (2024). Biological invasions are a population-level rather than a species-level phenomenon. *Global Change Biology* **30**, e17312.
- HEDGES, L. V., GUREVITCH, J. & CURTIS, P. S. (1999). The meta-analysis of response ratios in experimental ecology. *Ecology* 80, 1150–1156.
- HIGGINS, J. P. T. & THOMPSON, S. G. (2002). Quantifying heterogeneity in a metaanalysis. *Statistics in Medicine* 21, 1539–1558.
- [†]HOBBS, H. H. JR. (1984). On the distribution of the crayfish genus Procambarus (Decapoda: Cambaridae). *Journal of Crustacean Biology* 4, 12–24.
- *HOKI, E., LOSEY, J. & UGINE, T. A. (2014). Comparing the consumptive and nonconsumptive effects of a native and introduced lady beetle on pea aphids (*Acyrthosiphon pisum*). *Biological Control* **70**, 78–84.
- HOLLING, C. S. (1959a). Some characteristics of simple types of predation and parasitism. *The Canadian Entomologist* 91, 385–398.
- HOLLING, C. S. (1959b). The components of predation as revealed by a study of smallmammal predation of the European pine sawfly. *The Canadian Entomologist* 91, 234–261.
- *HOWARD, B. R., BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., ALEXANDER, M. E., DICK, J. T. A., THERRIAULT, T. W., ROBINSON, T. B. & CÔTÉ, I. M. (2018). Functional responses of a cosmopolitan invader demonstrate intraspecific variability in consumer-resource dynamics. *Peer***7** 6, e5634.
- *HOXHA, T., CROOKES, S., MACISAAC, I., CHANG, X., JOHANSSON, M., DICK, J. T. A., NICOLAI, A. & MACISAAC, H. J. (2019). Comparative feeding behaviour of native and introduced terrestrial snails tracks their ecological impacts. *NeoBiota* 47, 81–94.
- *HSIUNG, A. R., TAN, C. L. Y., ZENG, Y. & YEO, D. C. J. (2021). Anthropogenic water conditions amplify predatory impact of the non-native Oriental river prawn *Macrobrachium nipponense. Biological Invasions* 23, 1707–1718.
- IACARELLA, J. C., DICK, J. T. A. & RICCIARDI, A. (2015a). A spatio-temporal contrast of the predatory impact of an invasive freshwater crustacean. *Diversity and Distributions* 21, 803–812.
- IACARELLA, J. C., MANKIEWICZ, P. S. & RICCIARDI, A. (2015b). Negative competitive effects of invasive plants change with time since invasion. *Ecosphere* 6, art123.
- *ILTIS, C., SPATARO, T., WATTIER, R. & MÉDOC, V. (2018). Parasitism may alter functional response comparisons: a case study on the killer shrimp *Dikerogammarus villosus* and two non-invasive gammarids. *Biological Invasions* 20, 619–632.
- IPBES (2023). In Summary for Policymakers of the Thematic Assessment Report on Invasive Alien Species and their Control of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (eds H. E. ROY, A. PAUCHARD, P. STOETT, T. RENARD TRUONG, S. BACHER, B. S. GALIL, P. E. HULME, T. IKEDA, K. V. SANKARAN, M. A. MCGEOCH, L. A. MEYERSON, M. A. NUÑEZ, A. ORDONEZ, S. J. RAHLAO, E. SCHWINDT, H. SEEBENS, A. W. SHEPPARD and V. VANDVIK). Bonn: IPBES secretariat.
- JAUREGUIBERRY, P., TITEUX, N., WIEMERS, M., BOWLER, D. E., COSCIEME, L., GOLDEN, A. S., GUERRA, C. A., JACOB, U., TAKAHASHI, Y., SETTELE, J., DÍAZ, S., MOLNÁR, Z. & PURVIS, A. (2022). The direct drivers of recent global anthropogenic biodiversity loss. *Science Advances* 8, eabm9982.
- JESCHKE, J. M., KOPP, M. & TOLLRIAN, R. (2002). Predator functional responses: discriminating between handling and digesting prey. *Ecological Monographs* 72, 95–112.
- JESCHKE, J. M., KOPP, M. & TOLLRIAN, R. (2004). Consumer-food systems: why type I functional responses are exclusive to filter feeders. *Biological Reviews* 79, 337–349.
- JESCHKE, J. M., LOKATIS, S., BARTRAM, I. & TOCKNER, K. (2019). Knowledge in the dark: scientific challenges and ways forward. *FACETS* 4, 423–441.

1178

- KALINKAT, G., RALL, B. C., UITERWAAL, S. F. & USZKO, W. (2023). Empirical evidence of type III functional responses and why it remains rare. *Frontiers in Ecology* and Evolution 11, 1033818.
- KEANE, R. M. & CRAWLEY, M. J. (2002). Exotic plant invasions and the enemy release hypothesis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 17, 164–170.
- *KESTRUP, Å. M., DICK, J. T. A. & RICCIARDI, A. (2011). Interactions between invasive and native crustaceans: differential functional responses of intraguild predators towards juvenile hetero-specifics. *Biological Imasions* 13, 731–737.
- KNAUF, A., LITTON, C., COLE, R., SPARKS, J., GIARDINA, C., GEROW, K. & QUIÑONES-SANTIAGO, M. (2021). Nutrient use strategy and not competition determines native and invasive species response to changes in soil nutrient availability. *Restoration Ecology* 29, e13374.
- KRUUK, H. & GOUDSWAARD, P. C. (1990). Effects of changes in fish populations in Lake Victoria on the food of otters (*Lutra maculicollis* Schinz and *Aonyx capensis* Lichtenstein). *African Journal of Ecology* 28, 322–329.
- LAJEUNESSE, M. J. (2015). Bias and correction for the log response ratio in ecological meta-analysis. *Ecology* 96, 2056–2063.
- †LARSON, E. R., CASTELIN, M., WILLIAMS, B. W., OLDEN, J. D. & ABBOTT, C. L. (2016). Phylogenetic species delimitation for crayfishes of the genus *Pacifastacus*. *Peerj* 4, e1915.
- *LAVERTY, C., DICK, J. T. A., ALEXANDER, M. E. & LUCY, F. E. (2015). Differential ecological impacts of invader and native predatory freshwater amphipods under environmental change are revealed by comparative functional responses. *Biological Invasions* 17, 1761–1770.
- *LAVERTY, C., GREEN, K. D., DICK, J. T. A., BARRIOS-O'NEILL, D., MENSINK, P. J., MÉDOC, V., SPATARO, T., CAFFREY, J. M., LUCY, F. E., BOETS, P., BRITTON, J. R., PEGG, J. & GALLAGHER, C. (2017). Assessing the ecological impacts of invasive species based on their functional responses and abundances. *Biological Invasions* 19, 1653–1665.
- LEUNG, B., LODGE, D. M., FINNOF, D., SHOGREN, J. F., LEWIS, M. E. & LAMBERTI, G. (2002). An ounce of prevention or a pound of cure: bioeconomic risk analysis of invasive species. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 269, 2407–2413.
- LIU, Y., HE, L., HILT, S., WANG, R., ZHANG, H. & GE, G. (2021). Shallow lakes at risk: nutrient enrichment enhances top-down control of macrophytes by invasive herbivorous snails. *Freshwater Biology* **66**, 436–446.
- LIU, Y. & VAN KLEUNEN, M. (2017). Responses of common and rare aliens and natives to nutrient availability and fluctuations. *Journal of Ecology* **105**, 1111–1122.
- LOCKWOOD, J. L., HOOPES, M. & MARCHETTI, M. (2007). Invasion Ecology, 1st Edition. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford.
- †LUNINA, A. A., NIKITIN, M. A., SHIIAN, A. S., ERESKOVSKY, A. V., KOVTUN, O. A., VERESHCHAKA, A. L. & IVANENKO, V. N. (2019). Integrative taxonomy of the cavedwelling mysids of the genus *Hemimysis. Systematics and Biodiversity* 17, 245–259.
- MA, C., LI, S., PU, Z., TAN, J., LIU, M., ZHOU, J., LI, H. & JIANG, L. (2016). Different effects of invader-native phylogenetic relatedness on invasion success and impact: a meta-analysis of Darwin's naturalization hypothesis. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 283, 20160663.
- *MADZIVANZIRA, T. C., SOUTH, J. & WEYL, O. L. F. (2021). Invasive crayfish outperform potamonautid crabs at higher temperatures. *Freshwater Biology* 66, 978–991.
- MASELOU, D. A., PERDIKIS, D. C., SABELIS, M. W. & FANTINOU, A. A. (2014). Use of plant resources by an omnivorous predator and the consequences for effective predation. *Biological Control* **79**, 92–100.
- *MCGLADE, C. L. O., DICKEY, J. W. E., KENNEDY, R., DONNELLY, S., NELSON, C.-A., DICK, J. T. A. & ARNOTT, G. (2022). Behavioural traits of rainbow trout and brown trout may help explain their differing invasion success and impacts. *Scientific Reports* **12**, 1757.
- MCKINNEY, M. L. & LOCKWOOD, J. L. (1999). Biotic homogenization: a few winners replacing many losers in the next mass extinction. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 14, 450–453.
- MCKNIGHT, E., GARCÍA-BERTHOU, E., SREAN, P. & RIUS, M. (2016). Global metaanalysis of native and nonindigenous trophic traits in aquatic ecosystems. *Global Change Biology* 23, 1861–1870.
- *MÉDOC, V., ALBERT, H. & SPATARO, T. (2015). Functional response comparisons among freshwater amphipods: ratio-dependence and higher predation for Gammarus pulex compared to the non-natives Dikerogammarus villosus and Echinogammarus berilloni. Biological Invasions 17, 3625–3637.
- *MÉDOC, V., THUILLIER, L. & SPATARO, T. (2018). Opportunistic omnivory impairs our ability to predict invasive species impacts from functional response comparisons. *Biological Invasions* 20, 1307–1319.
- MENGERSEN, K., JENNIONS, M. D. & SCHMID, C. H. (2013). Statistical models for the meta-analysis of nonindependent data. In *Handbook of Meta-Analysis in Ecology and Evolution*, pp. 255–283. Princeton University Press, Princeton and Oxford.
- †MEYER, A., SALZBURGER, W. & SCHARTL, M. (2006). Hybrid origin of a swordtail species (Teleostei: *Xiphophorus clemenciae*) driven by sexual selection. *Molecular Ecology* 15, 721–730.

- *MOFU, L., CUTHBERT, R. N., DALU, T., WOODFORD, D. J., WASSERMAN, R. J., DICK, J. T. A. & WEYL, O. L. F. (2019a). Impacts of non-native fishes under a seasonal temperature gradient are forecasted using functional responses and abundances. *NeoBiota* **49**, 57–75.
- *MOFU, L., SOUTH, J., WASSERMAN, R. J., DALU, T., WOODFORD, D. J., DICK, J. T. A. & WEYL, O. L. F. (2019b). Inter-specific differences in invader and native fish functional responses illustrate neutral effects on prey but superior invader competitive ability. *Freshwater Biology* 64, 1655–1663.
- MORRISON, W. E. & HAY, M. E. (2011). Feeding and growth of native, invasive and non-invasive alien apple snails (Ampullariidae) in the United States: invasives eat more and grow more. *Biological Invasions* 13, 945–955.
- MURDOCH, W. W. & OATEN, A. (1975). Predation and population stability. Advances in Ecological Research 9, 1–131.
- NAKAGAWA, S., LAGISZ, M., JENNIONS, M. D., KORICHEVA, J., NOBLE, D. W. A., PARKER, T. H., SÁNCHEZ-TÓJAR, A., YANG, Y. & O'DEA, R. E. (2022). Methods for testing publication bias in ecological and evolutionary meta-analyses. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 13, 4–21.
- NAKAGAWA, S., LAGISZ, M., O'DEA, R. E., POTTIER, P., RUTKOWSKA, J., SENIOR, A. M., YANG, Y. & NOBLE, D. W. A. (2023a). orchaRd 2.0: an R package for visualising meta-analyses with orchard plots. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 14, 2003–2010.
- NAKAGAWA, S., NOBLE, D. W. A., LAGISZ, M., SPAKE, R., VIECHTBAUER, W. & SENIOR, A. M. (2023b). A robust and readily implementable method for the metaanalysis of response ratios with and without missing standard deviations. *Ecology Letters* 26, 232–244.
- NAKAGAWA, S., YANG, Y., MACARTNEY, E. L., SPAKE, R. & LAGISZ, M. (2023c). Quantitative evidence synthesis: a practical guide on meta-analysis, metaregression, and publication bias tests for environmental sciences. *Environmental Evidence* 12, 8.
- NOBLE, D. W. A., LAGISZ, M., O'DEA, R. E. & NAKAGAWA, S. (2017). Nonindependence and sensitivity analyses in ecological and evolutionary metaanalyses. *Molecular Ecology* 26, 2410–2425.
- O'DEA, R. E., LAGISZ, M., JENNIONS, M. D., KORICHEVA, J., NOBLE, D. W., PARKER, T. H., GUREVITCH, J., PAGE, M. J., STEWART, G., MOHER, D. & NAKAGAWA, S. (2021). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and metaanalyses in ecology and evolutionary biology: a PRISMA extension. *Biological Reviews* 96, 1695–1722.
- *OTTURI, G., REGGI, P. E., BATTINI, M. Á. & BARRIGA, J. P. (2020). The effects of trophic interaction between the Patagonian native *Percichthys trucha* and the invasive *Oncorhynchus mykiss* during the juvenile period. *Biological Invasions* 22, 3293-3305.
- ÖZBEK, M. & ÖZKAN, N. (2011). Dikerogammarus istanbulensis sp. n., a new amphipod species (Amphipoda: Gammaridae) from Turkey with a key for the genus. Zootaxa 2813, 55–64.
- PAOLUCCI, E. M., MACISAAC, H. J. & RICCIARDI, A. (2013). Origin matters: alien consumers inflict greater damage on prey populations than do native consumers. *Diversity and Distributions* 19, 988–995.
- *PATERSON, R. A., DICK, J. T. A., PRITCHARD, D. W., ENNIS, M., HATCHER, M. J. & DUNN, A. M. (2015). Predicting invasive species impacts: a community module functional response approach reveals context dependencies. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 84, 453–463.
- *PATON, R. A., GOBIN, J., ROOKE, A. C. & FOX, M. G. (2019). Population density contributes to the higher functional response of an invasive fish. *Biological Invasions* 21, 1737–1749.
- †PATZNER, R. A., VAN TASSELL, J. L., KOVACIC, M. & KAPOOR, B. G. (2012). The Biology of Gobies. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- PELICICE, F. M. & AGOSTINHO, A. A. (2009). Fish fauna destruction after the introduction of a non-native predator (*Cichla kelben*) in a neotropical reservoir. *Biological Invasions* 11, 1789–1801.
- PELICICE, F. M., LATINI, J. D. & AGOSTINHO, A. A. (2015). Fish faund disassembly after the introduction of a voracious predator: main drivers and the role of the invader's demography. *Hydrobiologia* 746, 271–283.
- †PINKSTER, S. (1993). A revision of the genus *Echinoganumarus* Stebbing, 1899 with some notes on related genera (Crustacea, Amphipoda). *Memorie del Museo Civico di Storia Naturale* 2, 9–183.
- POPE, K. L., GARWOOD, J. M., WELSH, H. H. & LAWLER, S. P. (2008). Evidence of indirect impacts of introduced trout on native amphibians via facilitation of a shared predator. *Biological Conservation* 141, 1321–1331.
- PUSTEJOVSKY, J. E. & TIPTON, E. (2022). Meta-analysis with robust variance estimation: expanding the range of working models. *Prevention Science* 23, 425–438.
- PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., PERGL, J., JAROŠÍK, V., SIXTOVÁ, Z. & WEBER, E. (2008). Geographical and taxonomic biases in invasion ecology. *Trends in Ecology* and Evolution 23, 237–244.
- R CORE TEAM (2023). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. https://www.r-project.org/.

- †RAUCHENBERGER, M. (1988). Systematics and Biogeography of the Genus Gambusia (Cyprinodontiformes: Poeciliidae). Dissertation, New York, NY: City University of New York.
- RICCIARDI, A. & ATKINSON, S. K. (2004). Distinctiveness magnifies the impact of biological invaders in aquatic ecosystems. *Ecology Letters* 7, 781–784.
- RICCIARDI, A., HOOPES, M. F., MARCHETTI, M. P. & LOCKWOOD, J. L. (2013). Progress toward understanding the ecological impacts of nonnative species. *Ecological Monographs* 83, 263–282.
- RICCIARDI, A., IACARELLA, J. C., ALDRIDGE, D. C., BLACKBURN, T. M., CARLTON, J. T., CATFORD, J. A., DICK, J. T. A., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., LIEBHOLD, A. M., LOCKWOOD, J. L., MACISAAC, H. J., MEYERSON, L. A., PYŠEK, P., RICHARDSON, D. M., *ET AL.* (2021). Four priority areas to advance invasion science in the face of rapid environmental change. *Environmental Reviews* 29, 119–141.
- RICCIARDI, A. & KIPP, R. (2008). Predicting the number of ecologically harmful exotic species in an aquatic system. *Diversity and Distributions* 14, 374–380.
- RICCIARDI, A. & MOTTIAR, M. (2006). Does Darwin's naturalization hypothesis explain fish invasions? *Biological Invasions* 8, 1403–1407.
- ROMANUK, T. N., ZHOU, Y., BROSE, U., BERLOW, E. L., WILLIAMS, R. J. & MARTINEZ, N. D. (2009). Predicting invasion success in complex ecological networks. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 364, 1743–1754.
- *ROSEWARNE, P. J., MORTIMER, R. J. G., NEWTON, R. J., GROCOCK, C., WING, C. D. & DUNN, A. M. (2016). Feeding behaviour, predatory functional responses and trophic interactions of the invasive Chinese mitten crab (*Eriocheir* sinensis) and signal crayfish (*Pacifastacus leniusculus*). Freshwater Biology **61**, 426–443.
- RUBIO-APARICIO, M., LÓPEZ-LÓPEZ, J. A., VIECHTBAUER, W., MARÍN-MARTÍNEZ, F., BOTELLA, J. & SÁNCHEZ-MECA, J. (2020). Testing categorical moderators in mixed-effects meta-analysis in the presence of heteroscedasticity. *The Journal of Experimental Education* 88, 288–310.
- †RYLKOVÁ, K., KALOUS, L., BOHLEN, J., LAMATSCH, D. K. & PETRTÝL, M. (2013). Phylogeny and biogeographic history of the cyprinid fish genus *Carassius* (Teleostei: Cyprinidae) with focus on natural and anthropogenic arrivals in Europe. *Aquaculture* 380–383, 13–20.
- SALO, P., KORPIMÄKI, E., BANKS, P. B., NORDSTRÖM, M. & DICKMAN, C. R. (2007). Alien predators are more dangerous than native predators to prey populations. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 274, 1237–1243.
- SAUL, W. C. & JESCHKE, J. (2015). Eco-evolutionary experience in novel species interactions. *Ecology Letters* 18, 236–245.
- SCHEMSKE, D., MITTELBACH, G., CORNELL, H., SOBEL, J. & ROY, K. (2009). Is there a latitudinal gradient in the importance of biotic interactions? *Annual Review of Ecology*, *Evolution, and Systematics* 40, 245–269.
- SEEBENS, H., BACHER, S., BLACKBURN, T. M., CAPINHA, C., DAWSON, W., DULLINGER, S., GENOVESI, P., HULME, P. E., VAN KLEUNEN, M., KÜHN, I., JESCHKE, J. M., LENZNER, B., LIEBHOLD, A. M., PATTISON, Z., PERGL, J., *ET AL.* (2021). Projecting the continental accumulation of alien species through to 2050. *Global Change Biology* 27, 970–982.
- SHER, A. A. & HYATT, L. A. (1999). The disturbed resource-flux invasion matrix: a new framework for patterns of plant invasion. *Biological Invasions* 1, 107–114.
- SIMBERLOFF, D. & HOLLE, B. V. (1999). Positive interactions of nonindigenous species: invasional meltdown? *Biological Invasions* 1, 21–32.
- SMOUT, S., RINDORF, A., HAMMOND, P. S., HARWOOD, J. & MATTHIOPOULOS, J. (2014). Modelling prey consumption and switching by UK grey seals. *ICES Journal* of Marine Science **71**, 81–89.
- SOLOMON, M. E. (1949). The natural control of animal populations. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 18, 1–35.
- Soto, I., Balzani, P., Carneiro, L., Cuthbert, R. N., Macêdo, R., Serhan Tarkan, A., Ahmed, D. A., Bang, A., Bacela-Spychalska, K., Bailey, S. A., Baudry, T., Ballesteros-Mejia, L., Bortolus, A., Briski, E.,

BRITTON, J. R., ET AL. (2024). Taming the terminological tempest in invasion science. Biological Reviews 99, 1357–1390.

- STRAYER, D. L., EVINER, V. T., JESCHKE, J. M. & PACE, M. L. (2006). Understanding the long-term effects of species invasions. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 21, 645–651.
- STRONA, G. & BRADSHAW, C. J. A. (2022). Coextinctions dominate future vertebrate losses from climate and land use change. *Science Advances* **8**, eabn4345.
- TANNER-SMITH, E. E. & TIPTON, E. (2014). Robust variance estimation with dependent effect sizes: practical considerations including a software tutorial in Stata and spss: robust variance estimation. *Research Synthesis Methods* 5, 13–30.
- *TAYLOR, N. G. & DUNN, A. M. (2017). Size matters: predation of fish eggs and larvae by native and invasive amphipods. *Biological Invasions* 19, 89–107.
- *TAYLOR, N. G. & DUNN, A. M. (2018). Predatory impacts of alien decapod Crustacea are predicted by functional responses and explained by differences in metabolic rate. *Biological Invasions* 20, 2821–2837.
- †TRAAS, G. R. L. (2009). The Conservation and Management of Freshwater Fishes in the Greater Addo Elephant National Park. Thesis, Rhodes University, Grahamstown.
- *TSANG, A. H. F. & DUDGEON, D. (2021). Can the functional response to prey predict invasiveness? A comparison of native fishes and alien poeciliids in Hong Kong. *Biological Invasions* 23, 2143–2154.
- VATLAND, S. & BUDY, P. (2007). Predicting the invasion success of an introduced omnivore in a large, heterogeneous reservoir. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences* 64, 1329–1345.
- $\label{eq:Viechtbauer, W. (2010). Conducting meta-analyses in R with the metafor package. Journal of Statistical Software 36, 1–48.$
- *WARREN, D. A., BRADBEER, S. J. & DUNN, A. M. (2021). Superior predatory ability and abundance predicts potential ecological impact towards early-stage anurans by invasive 'Killer Shrimp' (*Dikerogammarus villosus*). Scientific Reports 11, 4570.
- †WESSELINGH, F., CADÉE, G. & RENEMA, W. (1999). Flying high: on the airborne dispersal of aquatic organisms as illustrated by the distribution histories of the gastropod genera *Tryonia* and *Planorbarius. Geologie en Mijnbouw* 78, 165–174.
- XU, M., LI, S., LIU, C., TEDESCO, P. A., DICK, J. T. A., FANG, M., WEI, H., YU, F., SHU, L., WANG, X., GU, D. & MU, X. (2024). Global freshwater fish invasion linked to the presence of closely related species. *Nature Communications* 15, 1411.
- *XU, M., MU, X., DICK, J. T. A., FANG, M., GU, D., LUO, D., ZHANG, J., LUO, J. & HU, Y. (2016). Comparative functional responses predict the invasiveness and ecological impacts of alien herbivorous snails. *PLoS One* **11**, e0147017.
- †YANG, Q. Q., LIU, S. W., HE, C. & YU, X. P. (2018). Distribution and the origin of invasive apple snails, *Pomacea canaliculata* and *P. maculata* (Gastropoda: Ampullariidae) in China. *Scientific Reports* 8, 1185.

XI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Appendix S1. PRISMA-EcoEvo checklist.

Table S1. Results from sensitivity analysis: mean effect size (lnRR) estimates and their corresponding 95% confidence interval (95% CI) for both response variables (lnRR_{*a*}: attack rate and lnRR_{MCR}: maximum consumption rate).

Dataset S1. Papers identified, screened and included, as well as extracted data to perform the meta-analysis of comparative functional response studies.

(Received 17 June 2024; revised 13 December 2024; accepted 19 December 2024; published online 14 January 2025)